





Participating in Power: How to Read and Respond to Integrated Resource Plans

A Guide for Local Governments and Other Advocates

Jake Duncan and Julia Eagles, IMT David Farnsworth, John Shenot and Jessica Shipley, RAP



Contents

| Introduction | 3 |
|---|----------------------------|
| Common Elements of IRPs | 6 |
| How to Read and Analyze an IRP | 8 |
| General Tips for Reading an IRP | 9 |
| Strategies to Advance Equity and Social Justice Priorities Make the Case for Integrating Equity Into the IRP Request the Utility Use a Just Transition Framework Highlight the Local Effects of Power Plant Pollution Advocate for Utility Programs That Address Community Priorities and Energy Burden Advocate for a Utility Workforce That Represents the Communities It Serves | 11 13 14 15 17 |
| Strategies to Advance Clean Energy Promote the Capabilities of Clean Energy Generation To Meet Grid Needs Ensure Beneficial Electrification by Equitably Distributing Benefits and Costs Lay the Groundwork for Demand Flexibility | 21 24 29 32 |
| How to Develop Comments | 34 |
| Key Considerations for Success | 36 |
| Intervenor and Stakeholder Compensation | 36 |
| Coalition Building and Joint Response Tactics | 36 |
| Creating a More Inclusive Stakeholder Process | 37 |
| Commission Authority and Commissioner Interpretation of Its Authority | 37 |
| Conclusion | 38 |

Acknowledgments

Donna Brutkoski and Ruth Hare of RAP provided editorial assistance.

The authors would like to express their appreciation to the following people who provided helpful insights into drafts of this guide:

David Cohan, Institute for Market Transformation Charles Harak, National Consumer Law Center Carl Linvill, Ann McCabe and Elaine Prause, RAP Tyler Poulson, Building Electrification Institute Kathryn Wright, Urban Sustainability Directors Network

The authors are grateful to the following interviewees who provided information:

Stacy Miller, city of Minneapolis Matt Lehrman, city of Boulder Rachel Brombaugh, King County-Cities Climate Collaboration Taylor McNair, GridLab Jonny Rogers, city of Denver Matt Cox, GreenLink Group Jose Alvillar, Unidos MN

Introduction

To meet 2 lst-century decarbonization and social equity priorities, utilities will have to transform the way they plan power sector investments. Most utilities have been focused on two metrics for success: reliability and affordability. While these objectives remain important, this framework does not effectively account for the climate, environmental and human impacts of fossil fuels, which disproportionately affect marginalized communities. To change the way utilities operate, it is critical to understand their governing structures and the strategic moments that offer the most opportunity to shift the industry's priorities. State-level public utility commissions (PUCs) are regulatory bodies with the power to change utility planning, procurement and rate-setting practices. PUC decision-making processes require public input, but historically, participation has been limited due to the technical and legal expertise required. This guide serves as a resource for local governments and other advocates who wish to engage PUCs in aligning their priorities with climate and social equity goals.

One of the most important opportunities to advocate for decarbonization and social equity in the power sector is through utility integrated resource plans (IRPs). An IRP is a tool that regulated electric utilities use to develop a publicly available plan for the best way to meet consumer needs over time, usually 10 to 20 years.¹ IRPs should consider a full range of feasible options on the supply side (utility-scale generation), demand side (customersited solutions) and distribution side (customer and community resources) and assess them against a common set of planning objectives and criteria.² The goal is to identify the portfolio of resources that performs best against those objectives and criteria over the long term, such as meeting policy requirements and maintaining reasonable rates.

IRPs are important because they shape the thinking of utility executives, regulators and intervening parties about the future of the utility, the reliability of the grid, the costs that customers will bear and the resulting impacts on the environment. Typically, a regulatory commission or PUC reviews the plan, orders modifications if necessary, and accepts or acknowledges it as the guidance document for future utility investment and operations decisions —especially the action plan, which identifies near-term actions the utility plans to take to achieve the identified resource portfolio. "Acceptance" means the plan meets guidelines set forth by law or by the regulator.³

Input from stakeholders such as consumer advocates, local governments⁴ and environmental and justice advocates is crucial to the development of an IRP. Third parties that are granted formal legal status in a regulatory proceeding are called intervenors. Regulatory commissions will base their acceptance or rejection of a utility IRP on the evidence and testimony that intervenors submit to the official record. Without broad participation of stakeholders offering informative perspectives, a utility might not equitably consider all resource options, particularly those that may not support its management goals. Utilities control the data assumptions they present, the resources they do and do not evaluate, and the scenarios they do and do not analyze. Figure 1 provides an overview of the elements of an IRP development process and how stakeholders may engage in that process.⁵



Note: This graphic shows a generalized example of the IRP development process. It does not capture all the variations of analysis, review, or stakeholder engagement, nor the iterations between steps. In this graphic, the regulatory review processes illustrated reflect states in which the regulator has a high level of regulatory oversight.

Source: Bonugli, C., & Ratz, H. (n.d.). Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) Support Package

To alter the outcome of an IRP, which is fundamentally based on modeling, stakeholders need access to the models used so they can comment on the utility's inputs, assumptions and methods. With this input, the utility and regulator can adjust the models accordingly before decisions are made. In other words, what might seem an obscure modeling process is actually a critical factor in shaping a utility's future investments and all of our future well-being. Those seeking to change the power sector must learn the technical terms and find ways to counter traditional assumptions and fossil fuel-based models with alternatives that make a compelling case for a new path forward.

This guide is written primarily for local governments and is informed by their experience engaging in IRPs. The resource is, however, likely to be useful for other advocates with similar climate and social priorities. The rest of this guide discusses common elements of IRPs, how local governments and other advocates can critique IRPs in ways that advance clean energy and social justice outcomes, ways to structure comments within IRP proceedings, and strategies to ensure that IRPs accomplish many of the aspirational outcomes described above.

Common Elements of IRPs

There is no universal framework or terminology that guides the development of IRPs. The requirements and terminology vary from state to state and, in some cases, even from utility to utility within a state. But regardless of the terminology used, several common elements form the core of almost every plan.⁶ These common elements may be combined in some IRPs or presented in a different order than outlined below but will usually appear somewhere in the planning documents.

Description of the planning environment and requirements

The IRP will normally begin by identifying some status quo facts about the utility, the planning process, and any legal mandates or regulatory requirements that are germane to resource planning (for example, requirements to satisfy a portion of customer demand with renewable or clean resources, commonly known as a renewable portfolio standard or energy portfolio standard).

Load forecast

Because the IRP is a plan for meeting the long-range needs of utility customers, it will always include a forecast of future customer demand for energy. IRPs should include multiple load forecasts based on different assumptions about key variables such as local adoption rates for electric vehicles (EVs), building electrification growth, anticipated economic development or regional growth, and the effectiveness of energy efficiency programs.⁷

Resource options

The IRP should explore the full range of resource options. It will start by providing details about the electric resources that are already installed or have been adopted in the utility system, along with any known or already planned future changes to those resources (e.g., the planned retirement date for a coal-fired power plant). In addition, the IRP will describe the types of new resources that the utility could acquire to serve customer needs. For example, these could include storage, microgrids and active demand response programs that bid into wholesale markets. Furthermore, the IRP should include details about these resources' assumed capabilities and costs.

Resource portfolios

Based on the load forecast(s), the IRP identifies portfolios of existing and new resources that are capable of satisfying customer needs through the entirety of the planning period. Capacity expansion models are typically used to identify feasible portfolios. These models use a relatively simple approach to determine if a portfolio of resources can satisfy peak demand on the system, measured in megawatts (MW), and meet annual energy needs (megawatt-hours), while meeting any policy or regulatory requirements. Each portfolio represents one feasible way to serve the forecast load. By assembling multiple portfolios, the utility can assess (in the steps that follow) the costs and environmental impacts of different ways of serving load; see the text box.

Scenario selection

Many IRPs take the extra step of developing a baseline scenario and one or more alternative scenarios for evaluation. Scenarios can be used to test what happens if baseline

planning assumptions are altered. For example, an IRP may evaluate a scenario in which the future commodity price of fossil gas is significantly higher (or lower) than what is considered to be the most likely price. Or the IRP might evaluate a scenario in which new environmental regulations are adopted in the future, such as a federal carbon tax. By evaluating scenarios, the utility can develop a robust IRP that avoids costly mistakes if events unfold in ways that the planners knew were possible but did not consider likely.

Analysis

At its core, the IRP is an analytical undertaking. The planners use dispatch models (which are more complex than capacity expansion models) to simulate how the system would operate every hour of the year over the entire planning horizon and

Two analytical models

Capacity expansion models simulate generation and transmission capacity investment and rely on assumptions about future electricity demand, fuel prices, technology cost and performance, and policy and regulation.

Dispatch models ensure the operation of generation facilities to produce energy at the lowest cost to reliably serve consumers, recognizing any operational limits of generation and transmission facilities.

what that would cost for each combination of a resource portfolio and a scenario. In most cases, these models can also calculate the associated greenhouse gas emissions and in some cases other environmental impacts. The results for each portfolio can then be compared based on cost and environmental impacts.

Preferred portfolio

The ultimate goal of the IRP process is to choose a preferred portfolio of resources that will form the basis of the utility's future procurements and program offerings. In most cases, the portfolio that costs the least under the baseline scenario will be selected as the preferred portfolio, provided that the portfolio meets legal and regulatory mandates and the modeling did not reveal any reliability concerns. In these cases, evaluations of other scenarios are provided primarily for informational purposes. In some IRPs, however, a more complicated or risk-weighted assessment of all the scenarios is considered, such that a portfolio that performs well under many different scenarios might be selected as the preferred option even if it is not the least-cost portfolio in the baseline scenario. Risk assessment can show what happens if load, resource costs or resource performance varies significantly from a baseline assumption.⁸

Near-term action plan

Many IRPs include a section in which the utility describes the actions it intends to take in the near term (e.g., the next one to five years). These actions include procuring new resources or developing new programs that are included in the preferred portfolio and necessary to meet near-term customer needs. This action plan normally does not address all the resources in the preferred portfolio. Because an IRP is a long-range planning exercise, the preferred portfolio may identify new resources to procure that will not be needed until many years into the future. For these resources, action can wait. In the next IRP, the load forecast may look different, the costs of various resource types may change, and the preferred portfolio may no longer include a resource that was included in the preferred portfolio in the prior IRP.

How to Read and Analyze an IRP

Integrated resource plans are often large and complicated documents. They are a product of years of work, various models and assumptions, and input from numerous stakeholders. No one individual produces them; not surprisingly, no individual has the capacity to effectively understand and critique every aspect of an IRP. Given this challenge of scale, in this section we discuss some strategies for effectively analyzing an IRP.

The IRP support package produced for the American Cities Climate Challenge highlights the advantages of partnering with other parties participating in the IRP process.⁹ Engaging with other advocates and friendly industry players can produce common insights and help coordinate a unified voice of participating advocates. Local governments have a unique opportunity to collaborate with other jurisdictions that have similar climate and equity goals in order to introduce a shared, collective voice while elevating those goals with the utility and regulators.

As advocates share expertise, it is critical to focus one's analysis and comments to regulators on specific aspects of the IRP. Comments that, for example, simply ask for more clean energy provide a utility commission no evidence as to why this change would be good for the ratepayers or what the utility should do to revise its IRP analysis. Pointing out a specific flaw, such as a lack of new solar resources after 2030 without a justification, and giving relevant data that supports their inclusion provides useful insights that the commission will have to address. Similarly, identifying specific disconnects between a draft IRP and prevailing state climate or equity goals is another way to elevate important priorities and ensure the planning process reflects broader policy ambitions. One example of a disconnect would be an IRP that proposes development of new carbon-based electricity generation resources that are counter to achieving deep decarbonization targets over the goal time horizon.

The following discussion provides additional advocacy tips to manage the scale of an IRP and to focus on issues of greatest concern.

General Tips for Reading an IRP

> Develop a map

Read the executive summary in full. This step will provide an overall map of the IRP's structure and help you find your way around.

Another way to get the big picture is to review testimony of the utility's lead witness. It will provide a succinct narrative of the main points of the IRP, the corporate vision

for the IRP and a list of utility witnesses for each subtopic. This testimony can also help advocates decide what sections to focus on.

> Use your search function

It is useful to make a list of keywords relevant to your priorities and use the search function to scan the document.



> Pictures help

Review graphs and tables

relevant to your priorities. The table of contents usually lists all tables and figures. Do any of the images look drastically different than you expected? If so, it may warrant a deeper dive into that specific topic.

> A little history is useful

Look at the company's prior IRP and compare the two to see what has changed. Are trends moving in the direction you hope to see? Or is the new IRP simply a regurgitation of the old one?

> Compare your goals with the utility's

Do an informal gap analysis by looking at the resource mix in the preferred plan and compare that to your goals and expectations.

> What does the company emphasize?

If a review keeps surfacing specific topics (like the retirement of a specific plant), that likely means it is a subject of interest to the utility. If it is also relevant to your priorities, this may warrant a deeper dive into the related assumptions and methodology.

> Understand the perspective of the utility

One of the most important skills in the regulatory space is to think like the utility, including gaining familiarity with what executives of investor-owned utilities care about most (e.g., capital investment in utility-owned infrastructure) and why¹⁰ (e.g., because under current regulatory practices utilities earn profit only on capital investments in utility-owned infrastructure). This approach will help you understand what informs their choices in the IRP and how you might align your interests with theirs.

> Divide and conquer

Remember the advice from the IRP support package: Coordinate with others and divide up the work. If you know the interests of other parties in the proceeding, you can help to amplify one another's priorities without duplicating analysis. A support network is also useful for answering questions about draft IRP documents and language, plus understanding the historical context of key issues.

Information requests

In most cases, parties granted intervenor status in a formal contested case can participate in one or more PUC-led rounds of "discovery" and submit information requests to the utility for information related to the docket. In the case of an IRP, intervenors can use information requests to gather additional data to formulate their response. This can include data on methodologies or assumptions, justification for trends referenced in the IRP, and data the intervenor thinks are relevant but missing in the IRP.

For example, the city of Minneapolis submitted several information requests to expand upon Xcel Energy's diversity, equity and inclusion appendix to the 2020-2034 Upper Midwest IRP. The data received through the requests ultimately informed the city's equity-centered comments on workforce and economic development.¹¹

When requesting information, be as specific as possible and where the IRP references the topic. In some cases, the utility may respond that the requested data is not publicly available, which may require the signing of a nondisclosure agreement. Be prepared to challenge the assertion of confidentiality if the information does not constitute a trade secret or other disclosure not covered in the PUC rules.

Strategies to Advance Equity and Social Justice Priorities

Electricity generation has historically been a major source of harmful air pollution, and low-income communities and communities of color have been disproportionately exposed to those pollutants. Energy burden —or the percent of income spent on energy —tends to fall disproportionately on marginalized communities, particularly in areas that have been subjected to other systemic racial and environmental injustices. Likewise, marginalized communities often do not have the financial resources or property ownership status to take advantage of traditional utility incentive programs that could begin to address cost burdens. Furthermore, within the energy industry itself, Black, Indigenous and people of color and women are generally underrepresented as both workers and decision-makers. This helps perpetuate the cycle of exclusion, underinvestment and inequitable clean energy policies and program outcomes. The resource planning process provides an

opportunity to correct some of these disparities. By formally integrating the priorities of the communities it serves, a utility resource plan can be an avenue to address historic inequities in communities and mitigate energy burden.

Many of the topics discussed below have not historically been considered in IRPs. This omission is due to a lack of stakeholder advocacy and a narrow interpretation of the role of resource planning. Still, advocates should consider IRP discussions as a venue for raising their concerns about how public utilities affect communities Advocates should consider IRP discussions as a venue for raising their concerns about how public utilities affect communities of color and how to improve upon this history.

of color and how to improve upon this history. These are precisely the important points of view that local governments and other advocates can bring to IRP proceedings and use to influence the process to achieve more equitable outcomes.

The following subsections provide conceptual justifications, key questions for the commission, possible sections of the IRP to review and evidence to cite for the following topics:

- Make the case for integrating equity into the IRP.
- Request the utility use a just transition framework.
- Advocate for utility programs that address community priorities and energy burden.
- Advocate for a utility workforce that represents the communities it serves.

Make the Case for Integrating Equity Into the IRP

Increasingly, energy thought leaders are encouraging regulators to better reflect the needs of all communities being served by public utilities in regulatory decision-making. It is important for advocates to provide a basis for regulators to take these steps. Advocates need to demonstrate why equity considerations are relevant to utility planning and why addressing solutions for vulnerable communities is within the authority of regulators reviewing utility plans.

When making the case for equity, consider that a PUC is a legislatively created court system. Frame your arguments within the scope of the authority that the state legislature or constitution has granted the PUC. PUCs are generally mandated to regulate utilities in the public interest, which is not always clearly defined and therefore up for interpretation by individual commissioners.¹²

Advocates should encourage a dialogue that explores what the public interest means today and offer guidance and encouragement to utility regulators on how they can use their authority to reflect decarbonization and social equity priorities. For instance, the COVID-19 pandemic has laid bare health and economic disparities among communities, underscoring that the "public" is not a monolith but composed of many diverse communities, each of which needs representation in long-term planning.¹³ Advocates may wish to highlight numerous points. For example, advocates can encourage regulators to:

- Look at existing regulatory authority with renewed urgency and a willingness to consider relevant demographic data.
- Recognize and direct utilities to recognize that the public is composed of different communities with specific needs that utility programs should endeavor to meet.

Furthermore, there is precedent for incorporating equity, environmental justice and consideration of energy burden more broadly into regulatory decision-making and specifically into resource planning. At a high level, several states have used administrative, legislative and executive powers to do so. For example:

- The governor of Michigan introduced Executive Directive No. 2020-10, requiring the state Public Service Commission to expand its review of IRPs to incorporate considerations of environmental justice.¹⁴
- The governor of Oregon, in Executive Order No. 20.04, directed all state agencies to consider climate change and the PUC to specifically prioritize decarbonization, mitigating energy burden and addressing other inequities of affordability and environmental justice.¹⁵
- Washington state's Clean Energy Transformation Act requires IRPs to include an assessment informed by the cumulative impact of: energy and non-energy benefits and reductions of burdens to vulnerable populations and highly impacted communities; long-term and short-term public health and environmental benefits, costs and risks; and energy security and risk.¹⁶
- A 2018 decision by the California PUC requires IRPs to include an analysis of the disadvantaged communities served, air quality impacts of potential portfolios, and resources planned for procurement in disadvantaged communities. The rule also requires IRPs to include a summary of outreach and evaluation criteria that will be used in procurement of generation and storage located in disadvantaged communities.¹⁷

| Key questions to ask | Relevant IRP sections | Possible suggestions to the commission | Sources |
|---|--|---|--|
| Does the commission have a stated position on its role in advancing equity? | Planning environment PUC website (external) | Request the commission open an investigation to establish its role in advancing equity and to establish a modern definition of the public interest | Initiative for Energy Justice ¹⁸ The Intersection of COVID, the Recession, and Race and Their Impact on Utility Regulation ¹⁹ from the National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners |
| Has the commission defined the public interest, and is this definition relevant? | Statutes guiding PUC review of IRP (external, but likely cited in the filing) | Require the utility to propose equity criteria for its evaluation of resource portfolios | <i>Revisiting the Public Good, <u>Part 1</u> and <u>Part 2</u>²⁰</i> |

Request the Utility Use a Just Transition Framework

Maximizing the benefits from a clean energy future requires gathering input on resource planning from the people who will be most affected. Principles of both distributive and procedural justice must be applied to ensure that the clean energy transition addresses social and economic inequality.

Distributive justice is the fair allocation of the costs and benefits of the transition, such as directing support to an entire community (e.g., not just the workers) and including environmental remediation, in addition to social and economic assistance. Procedural justice incorporates a comprehensive range of interests and issues in transition planning. To reflect historically underrepresented voices, it promotes inclusiveness and encourages power sharing in decision-making forums.²¹

Just transition plans should create a vision for transitioning away from all types of fossil fuels and endeavor to address existing gender and racial inequalities in the energy sector. Advocates could recommend that their utility embark on a comprehensive and inclusive planning process that will promote a transition of its resource mix away from fossil fuels and start to remediate historic energy sector inequalities. Worker training programs should address structural barriers to participation in the energy workforce and greater access to decision-making forums.

Highlight the Local Effects of Power Plant Pollution

Fossil fuel combustion is directly linked to a number of negative health outcomes, including heart disease, asthma, premature birth, neurological problems, cancer and susceptibility to COVID-19.²² Many combustion plants — and often dirtier and more expensive peaker plants — are in or near underserved communities and disproportionately affect communities of color.²³ Although these direct impacts may not be recognized in IRPs due to the lack of stakeholder engagement or explicit requirement that they be analyzed, they are critical topics for advocates to bring into the discussion and analysis.

IRPs generally do not discuss siting of planned power plants. IRPs forecast generic additions of generation (size, type and timing) instead of identifying specific assets in specific locations. Those details are instead covered in the rate case the plant falls under or in a preconstruction approval case. However, as the venue for utility planning and public engagement, IRPs will be foundational to the eventual justification for utility investments like new power plants. Therefore, including this topic in an IRP proceeding can establish an important criterion for determining the suitability of new generation investments.

| ?? ? | | | |
|--|--|--|---|
| Key questions to ask | Relevant IRP sections | Possible suggestions to the commission | Sources |
| Where are polluting plants located? | Information request Utility documentation outside the IRP | Map out the locations of fossil fuel combustion plants in relation to underserved communities | <u>Power Plants in the</u> <u>United States</u> interactive map ²⁴ by Synapse Energy Economics |
| How is the utility planning to replace existing plants? What are the nonpolluting alternatives and are they adequately evaluated in the IRP? | Preferred portfolio Near-term action plan | Replace retiring plants near underserved communities with clean energy portfolios | The Fossil Fuel End Game: A Frontline Vision to Retire New York City's Peaker Plants by 2030 ²⁵ from the PEAK Coalition <u>The Growing Market</u> for Clean Energy Portfolios ²⁶ from RMI |

Advocate for Utility Programs That Address Community Priorities and Energy Burden

While IRPs usually analyze demand-side resources as part of larger energy resource portfolios, actual demand-side management (DSM) program designs and budgets are usually reviewed separately. This practice can result in a failure to recognize that the benefits of DSM programs are not distributed evenly among ratepayers, given that residents of energy-burdened communities may face higher barriers to participation in such programs. The next section looks briefly at how demand-side programs can be evaluated and why advocates should endeavor to raise the distributional issues in an IRP.

Cost-effectiveness tests are used to evaluate energy efficiency programs by comparing the benefits of an investment with the costs. Advocates should determine whether the jurisdiction in question considers low-income customer benefits and environmental benefits when evaluating DSM programs. If they are not included, advocates should argue for their inclusion.

Local governments may have extensive experience working with energy-burdened communities and should bring that experience and those insights into the IRP process. Advocates can request an energy burden analysis and an analysis of the distributional impacts of programs. To support this request, advocates can point to existing resources or request that the commission undertake or require the utility to do such analysis.



| Key questions to ask | Relevant IRP sections | Possible suggestions to the commission | Sources |
|--|---|---|---|
| What is the energy burden in my community? | Planning environment Analysis Information request DSM plan (external) | Request the utility analyze the energy burden among its customers and publish a map Set a goal for energy efficiency delivered to energy- burdened customers | Quantitative EnergyEquity27by EmpowerDataworksEnergy EquityProject28 of theUrban EnergyJustice LabHow High AreHousehold EnergyBurdens?29 fromACEEEEnergy burdenmapping30 by TheGreenlink GroupLow-Income EnergyAffordability DataTool81 from the U.S.Department ofEnergy |
| What is the distribution of the impacts of DSM programs? Do they benefit certain communities or demographics more than others? How successful have existing programs been at addressing energy burden? | Analysis Information request DSM plan (external) | Develop inclusive cost-effectiveness tests or approve DSM programs if they demonstrate ability to lower energy burden Convene stakeholder groups to ensure community-centered design | Supporting Low- Income Energy Efficiency: A Guide for Utility Regulators ³² by ACEEE Equitable Clean Energy Planning ³³ by World Resources Institute Bridging the Solar Income Gap ³⁴ from the GW Solar Institute |

Case study: Charlotte, North Carolina

The comments of the city of Charlotte, North Carolina, on Duke Energy's 2020 IRP provide a useful example of an advocate's emphasis on the need to incorporate recognition of distributional effects.³⁵ City officials are motivated to alleviate the energy burden on residents (see Figure 2³⁶⁾ in a sustained way without exacerbating other health and environmental inequities. The city's comments explain the concept of energy burden and what officials are doing to address both disparate income levels and disparate spending on energy. These points are buttressed with relevant local statistics, including the fact that more than a quarter of low-income households in Charlotte have an energy burden over 14%.³⁷

The city's comments emphasized that Duke Energy should:

- Maximize energy efficiency and update the cost-effectiveness screening to include the full range of customer benefits.
- Accelerate coal retirement, model clean energy portfolios against new gas and use all-source procurement.
- Analyze the impact of EV growth.

Throughout the comments on energy efficiency, decarbonization and renewables expansion, Charlotte grounded each request to the commission in both the importance to the city and the importance of ensuring greater equity.





Source: City of Charlotte. (2021, February 25). City of Charlotte Initial Comments on Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC and Duke Energy Progress, LLC's Integrated Resource Plan

Advocate for a Utility Workforce That Represents the Communities It Serves

Because not all communities have equal access to economic opportunity, the composition of the utility's workforce is a relevant issue to raise in a utility planning docket. Absent an explicit strategy to address equity in the energy workforce, not all demographics will have access to one of the key economic opportunities associated with the transition to a lowcarbon economy: clean energy jobs. If the issue is not raised, then clean energy policies and programs envisioned in the context of utility plans could not just overlook certain members of the public, but could also reinforce existing inequalities, such as the underrepresentation of women and marginalized groups in the energy sector.

Even if women and people of color participate in the sector, they still may hold indirect and supportive roles (such as lower-paid service work or contract positions) that would not be covered by proposed worker compensation or other training policies. Utility proceedings do not generally address this issue directly, but there is an opportunity to advocate for a more reflective workforce in the IRP and to highlight how



important demographics are to utility resource —in this case, labor —decisions.

Utility workforce and leadership demographic data aren't likely to be in the plan but can be sought through information requests (described in the text box on Page 10). This information is directly relevant to an IRP because participation in the planning process and utility program implementation are, to some degree, built on trust from participants. If the individuals communicating the utility plans or implementing a program do not reflect the community they are in, this trust may be threatened. The same potential disconnect occurs within leadership decision-making. Advocates may wish to include utility leadership and workforce diversity as part of their strategy.

| Key questions to ask | Relevant IRP sections | Possible suggestions to the commission | Sources |
|---|--|--|--|
| What are the demographics of the utility workforce and leadership? | Information request | Require the utility to submit a plan to bring its workforce and leadership demographics in line with the communities it serves | Diversity Toolkit ³⁸ from the National Utilities Diversity Council and partners |
| Who will these investments benefit, and is there a way to include provisions that encourage the use of minority and | Rate case or certificate of need (external) All-source procurement | Apply high-road job requirements for contractors leveraging utility incentives and programs | Utility Supplier Diversity Program ³⁹ of the California Public Utilities Commission |
| What are effective strategies for the utility to diversity its workforce? Is the utility required or encouraged to make investments in workforce development? | see Page 25) | Encourage the use of women and minority contractors for construction and other projects Advocate for enhanced energy workforce investment funded by ratepayer dollars | Procurement and Contracting: Building a Field of Policy and Practice ⁴⁰ from PolicyLink and Emerald Cities Collaborative |

Case Study: Minneapolis and Xcel's IRP

Through an information request in the Minnesota utility commission's investigation into Xcel Energy's 2020 IRP, the city of Minneapolis obtained data on the company's workforce and management demographics, which Xcel compared with statewide demographic data from the U.S. Census Bureau (see Table 1).⁴¹ Highlighting the differences, Minneapolis contends that diversity within the workforce influences the culture of the organization and that diversity at the leadership level is critical to integrating diverse perspectives in decision-making.

| | Population | Total available workforce* | Xcel Energy Minnesota workforce | Xcel Energy Minnesota management workforce |
|----------------------------|------------|----------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|
| White | 78.10% | 91.00% | 92.82% | 93.87% |
| Female | 50.20% | 29.40% | 23.01% | 19.73% |
| Minority | 21.90% | 9.00% | 7.20% | 6.13% |
| Black | 7.00% | 2.20% | 2.09% | 1.20% |
| Hispanic | 5.60% | 2.10% | 1.95% | 2.27% |
| Asian, Pacific Islander | 5.10% | 3.10% | 1.93% | 1.33% |
| American Indian | 1.40% | 0.70% | 0.32% | 0.27% |
| Two or more | 2.60% | 1.00% | 0.90% | 1.07% |

Table 1. Comparison of Minnesota demographics and Xcel Energy Minnesota workforce

* Based on the 2010 Census codes for jobs specific to the Xcel Energy workforce located in the state of Minnesota

Source: City of Minneapolis. (2021, February 11). Comments of the City of Minneapolis

Because the Xcel IRP investigation is still underway as of the writing of this guide, Minneapolis' request that Xcel bring its workforce's racial and gender diversity in line with the population the utility serves is still an unresolved issue.

Strategies to Advance Clean Energy

Local governments and other advocates bring unique perspectives on DSM and distributed energy resources (DERs) to IRP proceedings due to their proximity to the individual utility customer. As individual customers become more connected with the energy system through opportunities arising from ownership of DERs and flexibility-enabling smart technologies, their representation becomes increasingly important. In addition, local governments and advocates often have their own climate and clean energy goals that are realistically achievable only through coordination with utility goals and plans. These perspectives are important for the commission to hear during planning processes.

Yet, because IRPs are heavily reliant on modeling, advocates will need to equip themselves with the technical expertise to be able to effectively participate in these conversations. To question and suggest improvements to particular technical issues, specific cost and forecasting assumptions, for example, most advocates will need to collaborate with others, such as well-resourced nongovernmental organizations and local industry. Commissioning relevant analyses when funds are available is another possible step. Assembling a team of retirees from utilities, academia, consulting firms and government can also provide a strong review group. The following sections discuss strategies to assess various clean energy options.

The following subsections provide a conceptual justification, key questions for the commission, possible sections of the IRP to review and evidence to cite for the following topics:

- Make the case for modeling demand-side resources on equal footing with supply-side resources.
- Promote the capabilities of clean energy generation to meet grid needs.
- Ensure beneficial electrification by equitably distributing benefits and costs.
- Lay the groundwork for demand flexibility.

Make the Case for Modeling Demand-Side Resources on Equal Footing With Supply-Side Resources

The "integrated" in integrated resource plan refers to the consistent and fair treatment of both demand- and supply-side resources by the planning utility.⁴² As noted above, demand-side management refers to interventions that modulate customer demand, instead of energy supply. Definitions vary by jurisdiction, but DSM can include energy efficiency, demand response, demand flexibility (e.g., EV smart charging), behind-the-meter storage and potentially rooftop solar. Discussion of specific DSM programs generally occurs in separate filings. Because the utility should be weighing the suitability of all resources at its disposal during the planning phase, the IRP is the chance to discuss and quantify how DSM fits into the utility's broader resource strategy.

Despite the importance of looking at all resources in an integrated manner, DSM is often at a disadvantage in the modeling process despite its potential to address environmental and energy justice issues. The following are two examples of ways in which IRP modeling can place an artificial limit on DSM that might otherwise be selected for inclusion in a preferred portfolio.

1. Cost-effectiveness screening often determines the baseline amount of demand-side resources eligible for consideration.

As discussed in a prior section, DSM approaches must generally pass an initial costeffectiveness screening test to be included in the resource modeling. The screening process can take many forms and fundamentally rely on subjectively selected tests that determine what benefits and costs are included and how they are weighted. Many screening tests do not include societal benefits, such as reductions to energy burden, decreased disconnections from utility service, health improvements and carbon reductions.⁴³ Advocates will need to understand the assumptions about DSM that are built into the modeling. This can be established by searching the document for terms like "costeffectiveness screen." The national *Database of Screening Practices* that may be useful.⁴⁴ Screening may also be investigated in more depth in an independent but related DSM plan docket.

The initial screening threshold should be about two times the current retail rate. This threshold may seem high, but even measures that seem expensive at the screening level may be cost-effective when analyzed in the modeling process. For example, energy efficiency measures that primarily save power during on-peak periods (air conditioning measures in summer-peaking systems, for example) may be very valuable in reducing peaking capacity in generation, transmission and distribution.

2. Some IRP models use an assumed fixed amount of demand-side management.

IRP models optimize potential resources according to their individual costs and system benefits to meet forecast demand. This practice means that the model might include more or less fossil gas generation, based on cost assumptions. However, many IRP models treat energy efficiency and demand response, and sometimes distributed solar, as a fixed input to the model. Furthermore, they may treat these resources as a load reduction instead of a selectable resource. This approach limits the potential for DSM to be valued and maximized for its energy and non-energy benefits in the model. Although there are some valid critiques to modeling DSM as a selectable asset, such as the fact that program participation is not guaranteed, IRP modeling is ultimately an informative exercise none of the modeled outputs will be adhered to precisely. Modeling demand- and supplyside resources on equal footing can be illuminating.

| Key questions to ask | Relevant IRP sections | Possible suggestions to the commission | Sources |
|--|--|--|---|
| Are the costs and benefits relevant to my community reflected in current cost-effectiveness screening? | Resource options Resource portfolios (External) Demand- side management plan | Request that the commission develop a new cost- effectiveness screening test with stakeholder and community input using the <i>National</i> <i>Standard Practice</i> <i>Manual for DERS</i> | National Standard Practice Manual for Benefit-Cost Analysis of Distributed Energy Resources ⁴⁵ by NESP State Cost- Effectiveness Fact Sheets ⁴⁶ by NESP States Using the SCC ⁴⁷ by the Institute for Policy Integrity |
| Does the discount rate used to evaluate demand- side resources reflect the value to society or to utility capital? | Resource options (External) Demand- side management plan | Request that the utility use a societal discount rate when evaluating demand- side resources | National Standard Practice Manual for Benefit-Cost Analysis of Distributed Energy Resources, Appendix G |
| Are energy efficiency and demand response included as a reduction to the load forecast or included as a selectable asset within the planning models? | Load forecast Resource options | Request that the utility model demand-side resources as a selectable asset, with the capacity and energy savings benefits separately recognized | Does Integrated Resource Planning Effectively Integrate Demand-Side <u>Resources</u> ? ⁴⁸ from Resources for the Future |

Case study: Duke Energy Carolinas and North Carolina local governments

In an ongoing investigation, a coalition of 11 North Carolina local governments,⁴⁹ supported by the American Cities Climate Challenge, responded to Duke Energy's proposed 2020 IRP.⁵⁰ Based on its review of Duke's analysis of DSM and voltage optimization, the coalition argued that Duke's cost-effectiveness screening includes participant costs but not all participant benefits. This approach, the coalition members contended, skews analysis results and makes what could be lower-cost resources look less valuable.

The coalition proposed a solution: Use a different cost-effectiveness test that would recognize more benefits to program participants. The coalition also encouraged Duke to pursue deeper engagement with disadvantaged communities that stand to benefit the most from such programs, connecting DSM to local equity concerns.⁵¹

Promote the Capabilities of Clean Energy Generation To Meet Grid Needs

IRPs analyze the wisdom of retiring existing plants and replacing that capacity with new resources to meet load growth or new customer needs. This process provides an opportunity to prompt the utility to retire fossil-fueled plants earlier and to replace them with clean energy solutions. The following are examples of ways in which advocates can articulate justifications for expanding clean energy resources in utilities' preferred portfolios.

Analyze the potential for accelerated retirement of existing fossil-fueled plants.

IRPs can be a platform to analyze the economic value of retiring fossil-fueled power plants early. Fossil-fueled power plants are durable facilities, and in the past they typically operated for 40 years or longer. Utilities adopt depreciation schedules and design rates on the assumption that they will recover the capital investment costs for building those power plants, and the associated returns on equity for shareholders, from ratepayers over decades. In their IRPs, utilities usually assume that existing generating facilities will continue to operate for at least their expected useful lifetime.

As the costs of renewable energy and energy storage have declined, it's time to reconsider this common practice. Utilities factored power plant retirements into IRPs only after deciding, external to the IRP process, that a unit was due for retirement during the planning period. This approach meant that the IRP did not evaluate the least-cost means of meeting all consumer demand but rather was a least-cost plan for replacing retired capacity and satisfying any increased capacity needs. The practice made sense in an era when fossil-fueled power plants were the least-cost option, because operating an existing plant was always less expensive than building and operating a similar new plant. In recent years, however, several utilities have discovered through their IRP processes that they could retire fully functional coal-fired power plants earlier than planned and replace them with new renewable facilities, or combinations of renewables and energy storage, at a lower total cost and without jeopardizing the reliability of the electric power system.⁵²

Utilities have at least two ways to assess the potential for cost-effective early retirement of fossil-fueled plants. First, they can evaluate specific retirement scenarios as a variation on

their baseline assumptions. This has now happened in quite a few IRPs but usually only at the instigation of clean energy advocates. Second, and even more powerful, would be to adopt a "zero base" approach to resource planning as standard practice. This change would mean the utility no longer assumes that existing resources belong in the preferred portfolio and instead forces all resources, existing and new, to compete on cost in every IRP. Either way, advocates should understand that continued operation of some fossilfueled plants might be necessary to maintain system reliability. Advocates should avoid taking positions or making statements that could be misconstrued or mischaracterized as advocating for retirements that could jeopardize reliability.

Advocates may find that utilities resist requests to assess the potential for early retirements. Utilities will commonly cite the impacts that early retirements have on their workforce and the communities that host power plants. These impacts are very real and important. Investor-owned utilities, however, normally have an additional concern that they do not always state publicly: stranded assets. When an asset like a power plant retires early, the utility has not yet recovered all of its capital costs, and it loses the opportunity to earn a return for its shareholders on the equity they invested in that plant.

The economic and environmental benefits of early fossil plant retirements can be enormous, but that alone may not be enough to counter resistance to analyzing the potential. To overcome resistance, advocates may want to engage the utility and other parties in ways to mitigate concerns about workforce and community impacts and stranded asset costs. For example, accelerated depreciation and securitization of stranded asset costs are two tools that can be assessed in conjunction with early retirements in an IRP.⁵³

Suggest all-source procurement as a strategy to keep costs low.

The modeling that lies at the foundation of an IRP is based on assumptions about the *expected* costs of different types of generic new resources. The *actual* costs of *actual* new resources may vary from those assumptions. Fortunately, there is a powerful tool for avoiding mistakes that might otherwise arise from erroneous assumptions: all-source procurement.

All-source procurement is a method in which the utility issues a technology-agnostic request for proposals; service providers can submit individual or combined proposals consisting of centralized and distributed renewables, energy efficiency, demand response, storage and distributed energy resources that are viewed on equal footing with traditional combustion plants.⁵⁴ The utility can solicit proposals as part of the IRP process, but more commonly that happens during a procurement phase after regulators accept the IRP.

All-source procurement can lead to the procurement of cleaner and cheaper resources for customers than those the utility initially proposes in its preferred portfolio.⁵⁵ Advocating for fair competition among all types of resources may be more effective than directly advocating for procurement of specific types of clean energy resources, since almost all parties to an IRP case are cost conscious, and clean energy resources are increasingly cost competitive with fossil resources.

Support efforts to address transmission and distribution constraints.

In some areas, electric transmission infrastructure is reaching its capacity to transport electricity, causing delays and constraints for new renewable generation. Electrification will amplify this challenge and could drive the need to build more transmission.⁵⁶ When developers propose new projects, they must account for the timeline and cost of connecting to the grid. When interconnection queues become congested, this cost can skyrocket and cause developers to abandon projects. In the long run, this trend threatens to slow the pace of renewable growth.

Distributed energy resources, energy efficiency and demand flexibility can mitigate some of the need to build additional grid infrastructure by creating additional capacity on existing equipment through load reduction or shifting. The planning processes for the distribution and transmission system usually occur outside the IRP, but the resource decisions and individual measure-level cost-benefit analysis for DERs that occur within the IRP may feed into nonwires solutions analysis. It is important that the value of DERs and DSM accounts for their ability to defer transmission and distribution investments.

Another element in evaluating DERs and DSM is avoided line losses. Due to heating, transmission and distribution lines lose a portion of the energy moving across them: about 5% of power during off-peak periods but (at the margin) up to 30% during critical peak hours. Ensuring the modeling recognizes marginal line losses, not just average losses, can make a big difference in the value of DSM and DERs that provide on-peak benefits (e.g., efficient cooling equipment and customer battery storage).

Consider supporting your utility's transmission plans and, where applicable, offering to support its requests to the independent system operator and to work with it on centering equity in the siting process.

| Key questions to ask | Relevant IRP sections | suggestions to the commission | Sources |
|---|---|---|--|
| How is the utility planning to meet future load? | Preferred portfolio Near-term action plan | Request the utility take an all-source procurement approach to meet new capacity needs | Making the Most of the Power Plant Market: Best Practices for All- Source Electric Generation Procurement ⁶⁷ from Energy Innovation and the Southern Alliance for Clean Energy How to Build Clean Energy Portfolios ⁵⁸ from RMI and RAP |
| | | | Solicitations: State and Solicitations: State and Electric Utility Practices ⁵⁹ from Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory |
| How are the costs of retiring coal plants early being | Resource portfolios | Request the PUC to make use of accelerated | <u>Comparing 2019</u> <u>Securitization</u> Legislation in |
| distributed across ratepayers and shareholders? | Analysis Preferred portfolio | depreciation or securitization laws when retiring plants, if available | <u>Colorado, Montana,</u> <u>and New Mexico⁶⁰ and <u>The Coal Cost</u> <u>Crossover 2.0⁶¹ from</u></u> |
| | Near-term action plan | • • | Energy Innovation |

| Are transmission and distribution capacity benefits of DSM and DERs adequately measured? | Resource portfolios Analysis Preferred portfolio Near-term action plan Distribution system plan (external) | Ensure that the transmission and distribution benefits are modeled in avoiding transmission and distribution investment and line losses | Recognizing the Full Value of Energy Efficiency ⁶² and Valuing the Contribution of Energy Efficiency to Avoided Marginal Line Losses and Reserve Requirements ⁶³ from RAP An Overview of Distributed Energy Resource (DER) Interconnection: Current Practices and Emerging Solutions ⁶⁴ from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory |
|---|--|--|--|
| Are transmission constraints limiting the possibility of new renewable energy? | Planning environment Analysis | Offer to support transmission projects that enable renewable generation and offer to work with the utility, PUC and others on considering local impacts | <u>Transmission</u> <u>Expansion Planning</u> ⁶⁵ by Greening the Grid |

Case study: Indianapolis Power and Light and the city of Indianapolis

In its 2019 IRP, Indianapolis Power and Light planned to retire two coal-fired plants and included several scenarios to replace them.⁶⁶ The city of Indianapolis submitted comments that offered specific feedback in several areas.⁶⁷ First, Indianapolis stated its preference for a specific scenario that meets capacity needs with a mixture of clean energy generation, DSM and storage. The city pointed to relevant information on the wind production tax credit and guidance on how to value energy storage. The city then strongly supported Indianapolis Power and Light's concurrent efforts to issue an all-source procurement request for proposals and cited research supporting the point that a clean energy portfolio could save \$4 billion over 30 years. Finally, the city suggested including carbon emissions reductions as part of the evaluation criteria for the proposals received.

Ensure Beneficial Electrification by Equitably Distributing Benefits and Costs

Electrifying buildings and vehicles is a key strategy to eliminate carbon emissions in these sectors. If not carefully managed, electrifying large sections of the economy that have historically relied on onsite fuel combustion could, however, drive an unnecessary expansion of the electric system. Additional studies suggest the level of infrastructure required can be mitigated with targeted efficiency and demand flexibility.⁶⁸ Unmanaged building and transportation electrification can also affect daily and seasonal demand, requiring strategies to manage load.

Ensuring that utilities adopt robust electrification scenarios in resources plans is of critical importance. Utilities will be inclined to either develop their own electrification forecasts using econometric modeling or to use the output of an external study. This forecast would then be incorporated into the base load forecast.

Since few local governments will have the resources to dispute the econometric modeling of the baseline electrification forecast, their efforts are best focused on examining alternative scenarios regarding the pace and impact of electrification. For example, advocates can request that the utility analyze scenarios with faster uptake of electrification than the baseline forecast. Scenarios can examine the different impacts and costs if building or transportation electrification is actively managed to optimize existing grid resources.

This kind of analysis will reveal the benefits of managed electrification. It will also illustrate affordability implications if electrification is not carefully managed. Advocates can use this information to ensure that increased reliance on electricity for essential services is accomplished reliably and resiliently. Stakeholders, such as businesses, local governments and citizens, have an important contribution to make in this area, especially emphasizing the need to manage all new electrified load to accommodate clean distributed resources. Ensuring that electrification proceeds in an orderly manner that optimizes rather than taxes existing grid infrastructure first will be one key to ensuring that this important carbon reduction opportunity benefits all consumers.

Utility programs, incentives, tariffs and financing options that are designed to achieve electrification should also consider whether technologies are accessible to underinvested communities and renters. Local governments and advocates can elevate equity approaches in electrification initiatives and provide novel insight about these customers at the PUC.

| Key questions | Relevant | Possible suggestions | |
|---|--|---|--|
| Does the plan account for building and vehicle electrification? | Planning environment Load forecast Scenario selection Appendices on DER forecasts | Request the utility establish electrification forecasts or revise its existing scenarios to better reflect on-the- ground expectations, and analyze at least one "high electrification" scenario | Local or regional electrification studies <u>Renovating</u> <u>Regulation to</u> <u>Electrify Buildings:</u> <u>A Guide for the</u> <u>Handy Regulator</u> ⁶⁹ from RAP and Synapse Energy Economics |
| Could electrification disproportionately impact or benefit underserved communities? Does the plan acknowledge the potential role of the utility in enhancing access to electrification for underserved communities? | Scenario analysis Planning environment Demand side management plan (external) | Request the utility to engage stakeholders to ensure electrification will benefit underserved communities | The Building Electrification Equity Project ⁷⁰ by Emerald Cities Collaborative Equitable Building Electrification: A Framework for Powering Resilient Communities ⁷¹ by The Greenlining Institute and Energy Efficiency for All Siting Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment (EVSE) With Equity in Mind ⁷² from ACEEE |
| Does the plan take into account resilience needs generated by electrification? | Scenario analysis Planning environment | Request the utility analyze potential resilience needs generated from electrifying new end uses in light of extreme weather events | Keep Warm and Carry On: Electrification and Efficiency Meet the "Polar Vortex" from Synapse Energy Economics |

| Does the plan look to energy efficiency | Resource portfolios | Request the utility meet all increased | Beneficial Electrification: |
|--|-----------------------|--|---|
| and demand | Scenario analysis | demand from | <u>Ensuring</u> |
| flexibility as a core | Planning | electrification with | Electrification in the Public Interest ⁷⁴ |
| increased demand | environment | demand flexibility or | from RAP |
| of electrification? | Dueferme din entfelie | clean generation | |
| | Preierred portfolio | | |

Case study: Sacramento Municipal Utility District

Sacramento Municipal Utility District (SMUD) has shifted its planning and programming to minimize greenhouse gas emissions, creating a conducive environment for electrification. In its 2019 IRP, SMUD models both building and vehicle electrification and finds that, while critical to meeting greenhouse gas targets, electrification could lead to an estimated 1,301 gigawatt-hours of new demand by 2030 (Figure 3).⁷⁵ It also has determined, however, that energy efficiency and distributed solar and storage can more than offset the load growth, leading to a net load reduction by 2030.



Lay the Groundwork for Demand Flexibility

To integrate high levels of variable renewable energy, the ability to actively shift demand — such as through building and transportation electrification discussed above —throughout the day to match renewable output will be increasingly important. Demand flexibility can yield significant energy, dollar and carbon savings by mitigating the need for generation and grid infrastructure investments.⁷⁶ For these reasons, advocates should emphasize the value of demand flexibility as an important grid resource and the importance of accurately modeling it in resource plans. This action will be critical for ensuring that utilities compare their capabilities with other resources and that customer-sited smart solutions help meet climate and justice goals.

| 555 | | |
|--|---|--|
| Key questions to ask | Possible suggestions to the commission | Sources |
| Does the utility consider the role of active demand management in integrating renewables? | Request that the utility undertake a load flexibility study or submit a load flexibility plan Suggest that the commission set a target for demand flexibility for the utility to achieve in the short term to demonstrate its capabilities | <u>The Potential for Load</u> <u>Flexibility in Xcel Energy's</u> <u>Northern States Power</u> <u>Service Territory</u> ⁷⁷ from The Brattle Group Portland General Electric's <u>Flexible Load Plan</u> ⁷⁸ |
| Does the IRP treat buildings and vehicles as grid resources? | Encourage the utility to propose diverse types of demand flexibility pilots that will provide experiential data on costs and benefits to its system | A National Roadmap for Grid-Integrated Efficient Buildings ⁷⁹ from the U.S. Department of Energy Determining Utility System Value of Demand Flexibility from Grid-Interactive Efficient Buildings ⁸⁰ from the U.S. Department of Energy A Regulatory Roadmap for Vehicle-Grid Integration ⁸¹ from the Smart Electric Power Alliance |

Case study: Xcel Energy and the city of Minneapolis on demand flexibility

The Minnesota PUC required Xcel Energy to procure at least 400 MW of demand response by 2023, prompting the company to dive deeper into the potential of demand response and demand flexibility. Xcel Energy (operating in Minnesota as Northern States Power) commissioned The Brattle Group to publish a demand flexibility potential study.⁸² It analyzed how Xcel could increase existing demand response, tap into emerging demand flexibility (like managed EV charging and smart water heating) and include new benefit streams. The study identified a number of barriers to flexibility specific to Xcel's territory and found that, under favorable conditions, cost-effective demand response and demand flexibility could exceed the 400 MW the Minnesota commission required.⁸³ Figure 4 shows the average impact of the modeled programs smoothing the daily load curve, lowering peak demand and reducing costs for all customers.⁸⁴

In its comments, the city of Minneapolis⁸⁵ supported Xcel's use of these findings in the company's modeling, emphasizing the importance of demand flexibility for the city and Xcel in meeting their respective decarbonization goals.



Source: Hledik, R., Faruqui, A., Donohoo-Vallett, P., & Lee, T. (2019). The Potential for Load Flexibility in Xcel Energy's Northern States Power Service Territory

Figure 4. Average load impacts of 2030 cost-effective demand response portfolio on top 10 load days (high sensitivity case)

How to Develop Comments

Up to this point, this guide has considered substantive IRP-related issues. This section looks at how to be most effective in presenting those issues to decision-makers.

Given that PUCs are quasi-judicial regulatory bodies, commissioners must base their decisions on evidence and opinion submitted to the evidentiary record. Commissioners cannot make decisions based on stakeholder priorities that are not included within the docket's record. Therefore, it is important that stakeholders submit comments that reflect

evidence that the commission has agreed will go into the record. Including your organization's priorities and perspectives in the record through comments can go a long way toward influencing the ultimate decision regarding the IRP at hand.

Comments can take two distinct forms: public comments or formal comments. Public comments are typically submitted by interested members of the public. The commission usually establishes a date by which public comments should be filed. Comments filed in formal proceedings are subject to other requirements the commission sets out. For example, they often must be filed with all participants in an investigation —that Including your organization's priorities and perspectives in the record through comments can go a long way toward influencing the ultimate decision regarding the IRP.

is, members of a service list. To submit formal comments, you must request and receive intervenor status in the proceeding, which may require legal representation.

When drafting comments, it is important to consider that your audience is utility commission staff and commissioners —not the utility or other stakeholders. To be even more precise, your audience will be commission staff who have to read many sets of comments. So whether drafting public comments or a formal submission, be as clear and to the point as possible.

Some PUC websites have specific guidance on how to submit public comments. Several local government comments are cited in this guide; see the end notes to view these specific examples. The following section provides tips and examples for structuring comments.

Introduction

- It is common practice to open comments by thanking the commission for the opportunity to provide input.
- Next, provide some context for your organization: who you are, why your opinion is relevant to the proceeding and what your priorities are. Possible data to include:
 - Size, geographic location, diversity of population represented.
 - Absolute and/or relative load and share of the utility revenues represented.

- Ongoing clean energy/environmental programs, policies or public goals.
- Ongoing avenues of collaboration with the utility or PUC.
- If a local government is commenting, it may be pertinent to note that you are simultaneously a representative of the public interest, a policymaker whose actions are relevant to the power sector and a large utility customer.
- It is also useful to acknowledge the utility's historic and/or ongoing effort in responding to stakeholder priorities.

Body

- Start by summarizing your points and clearly state your requests for commission action.
- Try to put yourself in the commission's shoes. How do your points promote the public interest? How is the utility plan not reasonable, and why should this be acknowledged? If relevant, provide background information as to why the organization is commenting or how the IRP plays into broader trends or events.
- Discuss the areas of the IRP that your organization wishes to change or new analyses you wish to see performed. This information can be formatted in different ways, including:
 - A simple bulleted list.
 - Bold headers stating the problems, with discussion underneath.
 - Narrative paragraph form.
- While writing, consider the broader political situation. How does your local government or organization's leadership manage their relationship with the utility? Use this context as a basis for your framing and language. Also, remember the commission staff who have to read comments: Help them by being succinct.
- Identify other parties and participants who have similar or overlapping perspectives. For example, cities and counties may share desired outcomes with environmental advocates, clean energy advocates and low-income advocates.

Conclusion

- If your comments are high level, the conclusion can be a concise reiteration of why your voice is important to the process and your organization's appreciation for the opportunity to participate.
- If your comments are extensive, use the conclusion as a summary of your key points and your request of the commission.
- Do not include new information in the conclusion.

Key Considerations for Success

Intervenor and Stakeholder Compensation

Local governments and smaller advocacy organizations often lack the staff, funding and necessary technical or legal expertise to effectively participate in utility regulatory proceedings. Providing intervenor funding expands the ability of these groups to participate in IRP processes before utility commissions. Federal law requires some provision for compensation to representatives of the public in certain utility proceedings.⁸⁶ State law may make additional provisions for intervenor funding. Providing intervenor funding expands the ability of these groups to participate in IRP processes before utility commissions for intervenor funding. Providing intervenor funding expands the ability of these groups to participate in IRP processes before utility commissions. A limited number of states⁸⁷ provide public advocates with some form of reimbursement for costs associated with intervening before state utility regulators.⁸⁸

In many cases, however, compensation is not guaranteed upfront and is determined based on whether the intervenor contributed significant and new material to the docket. This practice generates uncertainty for potential intervenors and may not eliminate the need for initial funding. Alternative models that provide more upfront certainty do exist, such as Michigan's Utility Consumer Representation Fund,⁸⁹ which provides upfront grants to local governments and nonprofits to advocate for residential consumers.

Suggested action item:

> Introduce legislation to create or expand intervenor and stakeholder compensation, with a focus on upfront certainty for intervenors who face resource constraints.

Coalition Building and Joint Response Tactics

Across the country, advocates in several jurisdictions have formed coalitions to overcome the capacity and technical expertise barriers of regulatory engagement. In some cases, the coalition is a formal organization representing several local governments, such as the King County-Cities Climate Collaboration⁹⁰ and the Michigan Municipal Association for Utility Issues.⁹¹ Other informal collaborations have produced one-off joint comments, such as the Minnesota and North Carolina local governments joint comments. The PJM Cities and Communities Coalition formed a group to engage at the independent system operator level to support renewables and other related measures.⁹² When considering forming a coalition, key considerations include determining who has the expertise or capacity to lead the engagement and how aligned the organizations' goals are. The Cities Climate Challenge Renewables Accelerator's IRP support package discusses this topic in detail and provides useful insights.⁹³

Suggested action items:

Create formal or informal partnerships with local advocates that share the same priorities.

- > Consider requesting support from national experts or philanthropy to support technical assistance in developing analysis and positions.
- > Consider engaging underrepresented participants and voices to join your coalition and advocate for positive climate and equity outcomes.

Creating a More Inclusive Stakeholder Process

Stakeholders and PUCs across the country are working to create a more inclusive stakeholder process to better match the public's needs. A recent report by the National Association of Utility Regulatory Commissioners provides a framework for PUCs to adopt new, inclusive engagement practices throughout their work.⁹⁴ Advocates can build on this momentum and request that a PUC improve its engagement practices. As an example, community organizations in Oregon successfully petitioned their PUC to develop an inclusive distribution system planning process after a utility made an investment decision in an underserved neighborhood without community input.⁹⁵ The Oregon commission also created and filled a full-time staff position for a director of diversity, equity and inclusion to promote greater inclusiveness in PUC processes.

Suggested action items:

- > Request that the commission host meetings and workshops that are accessible to communities across the state through virtual and physical meetings.
- > Request that the commission review and take public comment regarding its own stakeholder engagement processes.

Commission Authority and Commissioner Interpretation of Its Authority

PUCs have traditionally operated within a legislatively defined scope that generally directs them to evaluate utility investment decisions on the grounds of customer affordability, service reliability and safety. State commissions are also typically required to ensure that their decisions promote the public interest, often an elusive and vague standard. The PUC's mandate, or its interpretation of its mandate, may restrict its ability to address climate and social equity, regardless of the evidence it hears. However, if state law requires commissions to determine that utility plans are in the public interest and the public interest is clearly defined, then advocates have the opportunity to make sure the evidence supports such a conclusion.⁹⁶

In some states, utility commissions are given more explicit authorization to direct regulated utilities to meet climate and social goals. For example, Washington, D.C.'s 2018 Clean Energy Omnibus Act included a provision that directs the District of Columbia Public Service Commission to consider "the public safety, the economy of the District of Columbia, the conservation of natural resources, and the preservation of environmental quality, including effects on global climate change and the District's public climate commitments."⁹⁷ Explicit legislative authorization makes it easier for advocates to ensure that commission decisions lead to beneficial climate- or equity-related outcomes.

Suggested action items:

- > Request at the outset of a case that the commission define its role in addressing climate, social and racial justice issues.
- > Provide the commission examples of actions it can take, consistent with its existing authority, to address environmental justice and equity.
- > Introduce legislation that directs utility commissions to consider climate, social and racial justice.

Conclusion

Participating in utility resource planning offers an opportunity for local governments and advocates to integrate their priorities, perspectives and experience into the clean energy transition. For public utility commissions, participation by these stakeholders provides a more complete view of the public interest. In addition, the information these stakeholders provide can lead to greater scrutiny of utility proposals and, ultimately, better resource plans. Although participating in the IRP development and review process can be a challenging task for local governments and advocates facing resource constraints, many are finding that the effort is worth it. The guidance, tactics and illustrative examples provided here are intended to help local governments and other advocates effectively read and respond to utility IRPs and so reflect important climate and equity priorities.

Endnotes

¹ Integrated resource planning is sometimes referred to as least-cost planning, which is described as "a process of examining all electricitysaving and electricity producing options to select a mixture of options that minimizes total consumer cost, often including consideration of environmental concerns and other responsibilities." Moskovitz, D. (1989). *Profits & progress through least-cost planning*. National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners. <u>https://www.raponline.org/knowledge-center/profits-progress-through-least-cost-planning/</u>

² Tellus Institute. (2000). Best practices guide: Integrated resource planning for electricity, p. 3. U.S. Agency for International Development. https://www.tellus.org/tellus/publication/best-practices-guide-integrated-resource-planning-for-electricity

³ Actual approval of utility investments typically comes in a separate proceeding, either a rate case or a construction preapproval case.

⁴ Crandall, K., & Duncan, J. (2019). *Local government engagement with public utility commissions*. National Council on Electricity Policy. https://pubs.naruc.org/pub/41BBF1F5-ED6E-79C8-CC25-14E9721A6E8B

⁵ Bonugli, C., & Ratz, H. (n.d.). Integrated *resource plan (IRP) support package*. American Cities Climate Challenge Renewables Accelerator. https://cityrenewables.org/resources/integrated-resource-plan-irp-support-package/

⁶ For further background on the development of an IRP, see: City of Seattle. (1976). *Energy 1990 study: Final report*. <u>http://nuclearfreenw.org/energy1990.htm</u>; Tsongas, G. (1976). *Bonneville Power Administration Electric Energy Conservation Study*. Skidmore, Owings & Merrill. <u>https://www.osti.gov/biblio/6814955</u>; Lovins, A. (1976, October). Energy strategy: The road not taken? *Foreign Affairs*. <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-states/1976-10-01/energy-trategy-road-not-taken</u>; and Pacific Northwest Electric Power Planning and Conservation Act, 16 U.S.C. 839 et seq. <u>http://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?path=/prelim@title16/chapter12H&edition=prelim</u>

⁷ In the load forecast and resource options, the utility also makes important assumptions about commodity prices, the costs and capacity factors of resources, and the costs of complying with regulations that affect resource optimization modeling.

⁸ In its initial regional energy plan, the Northwest Power Planning Council found that resources with short lead times — including energy efficiency and small generating units — had dramatically lower risk due to the avoidance of construction of expensive coal and nuclear capacity that proved unnecessary after a long construction period. Northwest Power Planning Council. (1983). *Northwest Conservation and Electric Power Plan*. <u>https://www.nwcouncil.org/reports/1983-northwest-conservation-and-electric-power-plan</u>.

⁹ Bonugli & Ratz, n.d.

¹⁰ Girouard, C. (2015, April 23). *How do electric utilities make money?* Advanced Energy Economy. <u>https://blog.aee.net/how-do-electric-utilities-make-money</u>

¹¹ City of Minneapolis. (2021a, February 11). Comments of the City of Minneapolis. Minnesota Public Utilities Commission Docket No. E002/RP-19-368. https://www.edockets.state.mn.us/EFiling/edockets/searchDocuments.do?method=showPoup&documentId=%7b50349377-0000-C41F-B925-C461E7ED6F3F%7d&documentTitle=20212-170898-01. See also City of Minneapolis. (2021b, June 25). Reply comments of the City of Minneapolis.

https://www.edockets.state.mn.us/EFiling/edockets/searchDocuments.do?method=showPoup&documentId={B016457A-0000-CD10-A9E6-7A5911C4A43E}&documentTitle=20216-175445-01

¹² The public interest is a concept drawn from English law and refined by a series of Supreme Court cases that focused on industries that provide essential services for the well-being of society. PUC determinations thus are frequently focused not on private interests but instead on the public's interest.

¹³ Farnsworth, D. (2020a, October 23). *Revisiting the public good, Part 1: A better understanding of "public."* Regulatory Assistance Project. https://www.raponline.org/blog/revisiting-the-public-good-part-1-a-better-understanding-of-public/.

¹⁴ State of Michigan, Office of the Governor, Executive Directive No. 2020-10, RE: Building a carbon-neutral Michigan, September 23, 2020. https://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/MIEOG/2020/09/23/file attachments/1553296/ED 2020-10 Carbon Neutral Goal.pdf

¹⁵ Office of the Governor of the State of Oregon, Executive Order No. 20-04, Directing state agencies to take actions to reduce and regulate greenhouse gas emissions, March 10, 2020. <u>https://www.oregon.gov/gov/Documents/executive_orders/eo_20-04.pdf</u>

¹⁶ Washington State Department of Commerce. (n.d.). *Clean Energy Transformation Act.* <u>https://www.commerce.wa.gov/growing-the-economy/energy/ceta/</u>

¹⁷ California Public Utilities Commission, Rulemaking 16-02-007, Decision on February 13, 2018, setting requirements for load serving entities filing integrated resource plans. <u>https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M209/K771/209771632.PDF</u>

¹⁸ Initiative for Energy Justice. (n.d.). What we do. <u>https://iejusa.org/</u>

¹⁹ National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners. (2020, December 10). *The intersection of COVID, the recession, and race and their Impact on utility regulation* [Webinar]. <u>https://vimeo.com/user/122363542/folder/3176146</u>

²⁰ Farnsworth, 2020a; and Farnsworth, D. (2020b, October 26). *Revisiting the public good, Part 2: What do we mean by "good"?* Regulatory Assistance Project. <u>https://www.raponline.org/blog/revisiting-the-public-good-part-2-what-do-we-mean-by-good/</u>

²¹ Piggot, G., Boyland, M., Down, A., & Torre, A. R. (2019). *Realizing a just and equitable transition away from fossil fuels*. Stockholm Environment Institute. <u>https://www.sei.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/realizing-a-just-and-equitable-transition-away-from-fossil-fuels.pdf</u>

²² Gottlieb, B., & Dyrszka, L. (2017). Too dirty, too dangerous: Why health professionals reject natural gas. Physicians for Social Responsibility. <u>https://www.psr.org/blog/resource/too-dirty-too-dangerous/. See also Ketyer, E., & McKenzie, L. (2021). Air pollution and COVID-19: A dangerous combination. Physicians for Social Responsibility. <u>https://www.psr.org/blog/resource/air-pollution-and-covid-19-adangerous-combination/</u></u>

²³ Thind, M. P. S., Tessum, C. W., Azevedo, I. L., & Marshall, J. D. (2019, November 20). Fine particulate air pollution from electricity generation in the US: Health impacts by race, income, and geography. *Environmental Science & Technology 53*(23), 14010-14019. <u>https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.est.9b02527</u>

²⁴ Synapse Energy Economics. (n.d.). Power plants in the United States [Interactive map]. https://synapse.maps.arcgis.com/apps/dashboards/201fc98c0d74482d8b3acb0c4cc47f16

²⁵ Strategen Consulting. (2021, March). The fossil fuel end game: A frontline vision to retire New York City's peaker plants by 2030. PEAK Coalition. <u>https://www.cleanegroup.org/ceg-resources/resource/fossil-fuel-end-game/</u>

²⁶ Teplin, C., Dyson, M., Engel, A., & Glazer, G. (2019). The growing market for clean energy portfolios. Rocky Mountain Institute. <u>https://rmi.org/insight/clean-energy-portfolios-pipelines-and-plants/</u>

²⁷ Empower Dataworks. (2020). *Quantitative energy equity*. <u>https://pubs.naruc.org/pub/F7E7EDC7-155D-0A36-31CA-49A77302407D</u>

²⁸ Energy Equity Project. (n.d.). Welcome to the Energy Equity Project. Urban Energy Justice Lab, University of Michigan School for Environment and Sustainability. <u>https://energyequityproject.com</u>

²⁹ Drehobl, A., Ross, L., & Ayala, R. (2020). *How high are household energy burdens?* American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy. https://www.aceee.org/energy-burden

³⁰ The Greenlink Group. (n.d.). *Energy and equity*. <u>https://www.thegreenlinkgroup.com/energy-equity</u>

³¹ U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy. (n.d.). Low-Income Energy Affordability Data (LEAD) Tool. https://www.energy.gov/eere/slsc/maps/lead-tool

³² American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy. (2021, April 28). Supporting low-income energy efficiency: A guide for utility regulators. https://www.aceee.org/toolkit/2021/04/supporting-low-income-energy-efficiency-guide-utility-regulators

³³ World Resources Institute. (n.d.). Equitable clean energy planning. https://www.wri.org/initiatives/equitable-clean-energy-planning

³⁴ Mueller, J. A., & Ronen, A. (2015). *Bridging the solar income gap* [Working paper]. GW Solar Institute, George Washington University. <u>https://solar.gwu.edu/bridging-solar-income-gap</u>

³⁵ City of Charlotte. (2021, February 25). City of Charlotte initial comments on Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC and Duke Energy Progress, LLC's Integrated Resource Plan. North Carolina Utilities Commission Docket No. E-100, Sub 165. https://starw1.ncuc.net/NCUC/ViewFile.aspx?ld=066d6aeb-73b6-45d8-817a-7cab0fe603d8

³⁶ City of Charlotte, 2021. The Greenlink Equity Map tool is free for community-based organizations if they meet certain requirements, detailed here: https://www.equitymap.org/cboeligibility

³⁷ The federal Energy Department defines "energy burden" as the "percentage of gross household income spent on energy costs." According to the department, the national average energy burden for low-income households is 8.6%. This percentage is three times the burden for non-low-income households, which it estimated at 3%. Charlotte's low-income households have an energy burden that is nearly 5 times that of the average U.S. non-low-income household. U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy. (n.d). *Low-income community energy solutions*. https://www.energy.gov/eere/slsc/low-income-community-energy-solutions

³⁸ Diversity Toolkit. (2021). *The changing utilities workforce*. National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners; National Utilities Diversity Council; Ruben Strategy; U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Economic Impact & Diversity. <u>https://diversitytoolkit.com</u>

³⁹ California Public Utilities Commission. (n.d.) Utility supplier diversity program. https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/supplierdiversity/

⁴⁰ Fairchild, D., Rose, K., & Tell, B. (2018). *Inclusive procurement and contracting: Building a field of policy and practice*. PolicyLink; Emerald Cities Collaborative. <u>https://www.policylink.org/resources-tools/inclusive-procurement-and-contracting</u>

⁴¹ City of Minneapolis, 2021a.

⁴² Federal Energy Policy Act of 1992 42 U.S.C. § 111(d)(19)).

⁴³ For a detailed discussion of energy efficiency benefits, see Lazar, J., & Colburn, K. (2013). *Recognizing the full value of energy efficiency*. Regulatory Assistance Project. <u>https://www.raponline.org/knowledge-center/recognizing-the-full-value-of-energy-efficiency/</u>

⁴⁴ National Energy Screening Project. (2021, April 1). *Database of screening practices*. https://www.nationalenergyscreeningproject.org/statedatabase-dsesp/ ⁴⁵ National Energy Screening Project. (2020). National standard practice manual for benefit-cost analysis of distributed energy resources. https://www.nationalenergyscreeningproject.org/national-standard-practice-manual/

⁴⁶ National Energy Screening Project. (2021). *State cost-effectiveness fact sheets*. <u>https://www.nationalenergyscreeningproject.org/state-database-dsesp/state-cost-effectiveness-sheets/</u>

⁴⁷ Institute for Policy Integrity. (n.d.). States using the SCC. New York University School of Law. <u>https://costofcarbon.org/states</u>

⁴⁸ Duncan, J., & Burtraw, D. (2018). *Does integrated resource planning effectively integrate demand-side resources*? Resources for the Future. https://www.rff.org/publications/reports/does-integrated-resource-planning-effectively-integrate-demand-side-resources/

⁴⁹ Town of Boone, Town of Carrboro, Town of Chapel Hill, City of Durham, Durham County, City of Greensboro, Town of Hillsborough, Town of Matthews, Orange County, City of Raleigh, & City of Wilmington. (2021, February 24). RE: Duke Energy Progress and Duke Energy Carolinas jointly submitted 2020 Biennial Integrated Resource Plan, Docket No. E-100, Sub 165 [Letter]. https://starw1.ncuc.net/NCUC/ViewFile.aspx?ld=bf1e6203-0b2b-410d-9917-132ffbda49a6

⁵⁰ Duke Energy. (2020). Duke Energy Carolinas integrated resource plan. <u>https://www.duke-energy.com/ /media/pdfs/our-company/irp/202296/dec-2020-irp-full-plan.pdf?la=en</u>

⁵¹ As of the writing of this guide, the North Carolina PUC has not reached a decision on Duke's 2020 IRP.

⁵² Two of the earliest examples of this trend arose from the implementation of Public Service Company of Colorado's 2016 IRP and from Northern Indiana Public Service Company's 2018 IRP. See Colorado Public Utilities Commission Proceeding No. 16A-0396E, Decision No. C18-0761 on August 27, 2018, approving retirement of Comanche Units 1 and 2; approving resource selection in Colorado Energy Plan portfolio; setting requirements for applications for certificates of public convenience and necessity; and setting requirements for the next electric resource plan filing. https://www.xcelenergy.com/staticfiles/xe-

responsive/Company/Rates%20&%20Regulations/Resource%20Plans/16A-0396E-Phase-II-Decision.pdf; and Northern Indiana Public Service Company LLC. (2018). 2018 integrated resource plan. <u>https://www.nipsco.com/docs/librariesprovider11/rates-and-tariffs/irp/2018-nipsco-irp.pdf?sfvrsn=16</u>

⁵³ A full explanation of these tools is beyond the scope of this guide. To learn more, see Varadarajan, U., Posner, D., & Fisher, J. (2018). *Harnessing financial tools to transform the electric sector*. Sierra Club. <u>https://www.sierraclub.org/sites/www.sierraclub.org/files/sierra-club-harnessing-financial-tools-electric-sector.pdf</u>

⁵⁴ An all-source procurement approach can also provide space for more closely comparing competing options; for example, demand response with a 36-month rollout time frame and a solar project that can be brought online more quickly.

⁵⁵ Wilson, J. D., O'Boyle, M., Lehr, R., & Detsky, M. (2020). *Making the most of the power plant market: Best practices for all-source electric generation procurement.* Energy Innovation; Southern Alliance for Clean Energy. <u>https://energyinnovation.org/publication/making-the-most-of-the-power-plant-market-best-practices-for-all-source-procurement-of-electric-generation/</u>

⁵⁶ Weiss, J., Hagerty, J. M., & Castañer, M. (2019). *The coming electrification of the North American economy: Why we need a robust transmission grid.* WIRES. <u>https://wiresgroup.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/2019-03-06-Brattle-Group-The-Coming-Electrification-of-the-NA-Economy.pdf</u>

⁵⁷ Wilson et al., 2020.

⁵⁸ Shwisberg, L., Dyson, M., Glazer, G., Linvill, C., & Anderson, M. (2021). *How to build clean energy portfolios*. RMI; Regulatory Assistance Project. https://rmi.org/how-to-build-ceps/

⁵⁹ Kahrl, F. (2021). *All-source competitive solicitations: State and electric utility practices*. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. https://emp.lbl.gov/publications/all-source-competitive-solicitations

⁶⁰ Lehr, R., & O'Boyle, M. (2020). *Comparing 2019 securitization legislation in Colorado, Montana, and New Mexico*. Energy Innovation. https://energyinnovation.org/publication/comparing-2019-securitization-legislation-in-colorado-montana-and-new-mexico/

⁶¹ Energy Innovation. (2021, May 4). The coal cost crossover 2.0. <u>https://energyinnovation.org/publication/the-coal-cost-crossover-2021/</u>

62 Lazar & Colburn, 2013.

⁶³ Lazar, J., & Baldwin, X. (2011). Valuing the contribution of energy efficiency to avoided marginal line losses and reserve requirements. Regulatory Assistance Project. <u>https://www.raponline.org/knowledge-center/valuing-the-contribution-of-energy-efficiency-to-avoided-marginal-line-losses-and-reserve-requirements/</u>

⁶⁴ Horowitz, K., Peterson, Z., Coddington, M., Ding, F., Sigrin, B., Saleem, D., Baldwin, S. E., Lydic, B., Stanfield, S. C., Enbar, N., Coley, S., Sundararajan, A., & Schroeder, C. (2019). An overview of distributed energy resource (DER) interconnection: Current practices and emerging solutions (Technical Report NREL/TP-6A20-72102). National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>https://www.nrel.gov/grid/ieee-standard-1547/overview-distributed-energy-resource-interconnection.html</u>

⁶⁵ Greening the Grid. (n.d.). *Transmission expansion planning*. <u>https://greeningthegrid.org/Renewable-Energy-Zones-</u> Toolkit/topics/Transmission%20Expansion%20Planning ⁶⁶ Indianapolis Power & Light Company. (2019). 2019 integrated resource plan. <u>https://www.in.gov/iurc/files/2019-IPL-IRP-Public-Volume-121619.pdf</u>

⁶⁷ Robinson, K. L. (2020, April 15). RE: Indianapolis Power & Light Company's 2019 Integrated Resource Plan [Letter]. <u>https://www.in.gov/iurc/files/Indianapolis-Comments-on-IPL-2019-IRP-4.15.20.pdf</u>

⁶⁸ Satchwell, A., Piette, M. A., Khandekar, A., Granderson, J., Frick, N. M., Hledik, R., Faruqui, A., Lam, L., Ross, S., Cohen, J., Wang, K., Urigwe, D., Delurey, D., Neukomm, M., & Nemtzow, D. (2021). *A national roadmap for grid-integrated efficient buildings*. U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy. <u>https://gebroadmap.lbl.gov</u>

⁶⁹ Shipley, J., Hopkins, A., Takahashi, K., & Farnsworth, D. (2021). *Renovating regulation to electrify buildings: A guide for the handy regulator.* Regulatory Assistance Project; Synapse Energy Economics. <u>https://www.raponline.org/knowledge-center/renovating-regulation-electrify-buildings-guide-handy-regulator/</u>

⁷⁰ Emerald Cities Collaborative. (2020). The Building Electrification Equity Project. <u>https://emeraldcities.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/BEE Report Final.pdf</u>

⁷¹ The Greenlining Institute & Energy Efficiency for All. (n.d.) *Equitable building electrification: A framework for powering resilient communities*. <u>https://greenlining.org/publications/reports/2019/equitable-building-electrification-a-framework-for-powering-resilient-communities/</u>

⁷² Huether, P. (2021). *Siting electric vehicle supply equipment (EVSE) with equity in mind.* American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy. https://www.aceee.org/white-paper/2021/04/siting-electric-vehicle-supply-equipment-evse-equity-mind

⁷³ Hopkins, A., Nadel, S., & Takahashi, K. (2020). *Keep warm and carry on: Electrification and efficiency meet the "polar vortex.*" Synapse Energy Economics. <u>https://www.synapse-energy.com/keep-warm-and-carry-electrification-and-efficiency-meet-"polar-vortex"</u>

⁷⁴ Farnsworth, D., Shipley, J., Lazar, J., & Seidman, N. (2018). *Beneficial electrification: Ensuring electrification in the public interest.* Regulatory Assistance Project. <u>https://www.raponline.org/knowledge-center/beneficial-electrification-ensuring-electrification-public-interest/</u>

⁷⁵ Sacramento Municipal Utility District (2019). *Resource planning report*. <u>https://www.smud.org/-</u>/media/Documents/Corporate/Environmental-Leadership/Integrated-Resource-Plan.ashx

⁷⁶ Hledik, R., Faruqui, A., Lee, T., & Hingham, J. (2019). *The national potential for load flexibility: Value and market potential through 2030*. The Brattle Group. <u>https://brattlefiles.blob.core.windows.net/files/16639_national_potential_for_load_flexibility_-final.pdf</u>

⁷⁷ Hledik, R., Faruqui, A., Donohoo-Vallett, P., & Lee, T. (2019). *The potential for load flexibility in Xcel Energy's Northern States Power service territory*. The Brattle Group for Xcel Energy.

https://www.edockets.state.mn.us/EFiling/edockets/searchDocuments.do?method=showPoup&documentId=%7b10FBAE6B-0000-C040-8C1D-CC55491FE76D%7d&documentTitle=20197-154051-03

⁷⁸ Portland General Electric Co. (2020). PGE's flexible load plan. https://edocs.puc.state.or.us/efdocs/HAA/haa125814.pdf

⁷⁹ Satchwell et al., 2021.

⁸⁰ State and Local Energy Efficiency Action Network. (2020). *Determining utility system value of demand flexibility from grid-interactive efficient buildings*. U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy. <u>https://www.energy.gov/eere/buildings/downloads/see-action-determining-utility-system-value-demand-flexibility-grid</u>

⁸¹ Myers, E. H., Davidovich, T., & Cutler, H. (2020). A regulatory roadmap for vehicle-grid Integration. Smart Electric Power Alliance. https://sepapower.org/resource/a-regulatory-roadmap-for-vehicle-grid-integration/

⁸² Hledik, Faruqui, Donohoo-Vallett & Lee, 2019.

⁸³ Minnesota Public Utilities Commission, Docket No. E002/RP-15-21, Order on January 11, 2017, approving plan with modifications and establishing requirements for future resource plan filings.

https://www.edockets.state.mn.us/EFiling/edockets/searchDocuments.do?method=showPoup&documentId={978E98E8-C6BD-4851-80E2-14ED10400D48}&documentTitle=20171-128000-01______

⁸⁴ Hledik, Faruqui, Donohoo-Vallett & Lee, 2019, Figure 14.

⁸⁵ City of Minneapolis, 2021a.

86 16 U.S.C. 2632

⁸⁷ Low-Income Solar Policy Guide. (2020, December). State intervenor compensation [Table]. <u>https://www.lowincomesolar.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/State-Intervenor-Compensation.pdf</u>. Recent legislation in Illinois (Senate Bill 2408) and Oregon provides for limited intervenor funding. See 81st Oregon Legislative Assembly — 2021 Regular Session, House Bill 2475. <u>https://olis.oregonlegislature.gov/liz/2021R1/Measures/Overview/HB2475</u>

⁸⁸ Slocum, T. (2017, June 26). State level advocacy: Interaction with PUCs & beyond [Presentation]. National Energy & Utility Affordability Coalition 2017 Annual Conference, Fort Lauderdale, FL. https://neuac.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/3C-TysonSlocum.pdf

⁸⁹ MI Compiled Laws, § 460.6m.

http://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(a3q1hahk501bo21d0x4ehsvd))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=mcl-460-6l

⁹⁰ King County, WA. (2021, July 2). *King County-Cities Climate Collaboration*. <u>https://kingcounty.gov/services/environment/climate/actions-strategies/partnerships-collaborations/k4c.aspx</u>.

⁹¹ Michigan Municipal Association for Utility Issues. (n.d.). Welcome to MI-MAUI. https://mi-maui.org/

⁹² World Resources Institute. (n.d.). *PJM Cities and Communities Coalition*. <u>https://www.wri.org/initiatives/pjm-cities-and-communities-coalition</u>

93 Bonugli & Ratz, n.d.

⁹⁴ McAdams, J. (2021). *Public utility commission stakeholder engagement: A decision-making framework*. National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners. <u>https://pubs.naruc.org/pub/7A519871-155D-0A36-3117-96A8D0ECB5DA</u>

⁹⁵ Public Utility Commission of Oregon, Docket No. UM 2005, Order No. 20-485 on December 23, 2020, adopting staff proposed guidelines for distribution system planning with modification. <u>https://apps.puc.state.or.us/orders/2020ords/20-485.pdf</u>

⁹⁶ Ciulla, J., Cross-Call, D., Felder, C., & Schwartz, A. (2021). *Purpose: Aligning PUC mandates with a clean energy future.* RMI. https://rmi.org/insight/puc-modernization-issue-briefs/

⁹⁷ Code of the District of Columbia. Chapter 8: Public Service Commission; Members; Counsel; Employees. https://code.dccouncil.us/dc/council/code/titles/34/chapters/8/



Energy Solutions for a Changing World

Regulatory Assistance Project (RAP)® Belgium · China · Germany · India · United States 50 State Street, Suite 3 Montpelier, Vermont 05602 USA +1 802-223-8199 info@raponline.org raponline.org

Institute for Market Transformation

1707 L Street NW, Suite 1050 Washington DC 20036 USA +1 202-525-2883 Twitter: @IMT_Speaks Facebook: @markettransformation LinkedIn: @institute-for-markettransformation **imt.org**

© Regulatory Assistance Project (RAP)[®]. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License (CC BY-NC 4.0).